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This building, the former Majestic Theatre, was designed Pgr the
Emery Amusement Company by William R. Walker & Sons, a prolific and
long-standing Providence firm, and completed in 1916 at a cost of
$500,000 or more, A large free-standing structure (120 by 180 feet)
bullt on a steel frame, it is trapezoidal in form (a fact disguised by
canted front corners) and flat-roofed, with the stage-loft at the north
rising higher than the rest of the building. Its bulk is given special
prominence by the open traffic areas surrounding it.

The main, or entrance, fagade, facing south, is treated lavishly
and carried for a short distance around the canted front corners; it
gives an impression of four storeys plus an attic in the frieze. This
portion of the building, prefacing the auditorium, is given an eclectic
Renaissance treatment characteristic of the Beaux-Arts style popular in
the first decades of this century and employed for public bulldings in
particular. White terra-cotta with accents in green and gold has been
used to face the entire fagade, and it is important to note that, in ac-
cord with standard terra ~cotta practice, the architectural embellishment,
is built up of architectural details cast in units as stock patterns.
This kind of modular system with ibs use of cast parts introduces an in-
herently repetitive aspect into the design and explains the somewhat
sterile--in spite of its elaboration--character of the whole composition.

Seven equal bays wide (counting the openings in the canted corners),
the fagade is dominated by a central arched recess that rises three
storeys from sidewalk to entabla ture and is finished with a wide, orna-
mentally-moulded inner enframement and surmounted by a cartouche. The
lower level in the recess contains the main entrance; the upper part is
filled by a large, prominently-mullioned, tripartite plate glass window
divided horizontally by stucco bandings at the floor or landing levels.
At street level, the original ornate metal and glass marquisesclavecnow
eén repltaced by a metal canopy-cum-announcement board, and marquises
above corner shop-entrances have gone. On either side of the central
arch are windows on two storey-levels, and in the outermost bays are tall
windows indicative of four storey-levels--all of these having a varlety
of ornamental enframements. Across the top of the fagade runs an archi-
trave band with a panelled frieze (containing the name of the theatre)
above it. Above the frieze is an elaborate arched corbel table support-
ing a narrow, embossed band of cornice. A panelled and balustraded
parapet surmounts the cornice. The theatre's front exhibits a great
variety of cast ceramic detail (some of it coloured)--mouldings, round
and diamond-shaped bosses,. swags, cartouches, foliation, relief panels,

pédiments etc.

Festive external decoration is, however; confined to the front of
the building, and its sides and rear are of buff brick with the nearly

(See Continuation Sheet.)
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This sizeable building with its large-scale exterior adornment oc-
cupies its downtown location well, being in fieight, weight and propor-
tions 1in good visual balance and relationship with nearby municipal
buildings and even with a neighbouring modern parking-garage. Its
Washington Street fagade provides a good "stop"--in the sense of punctu-
ation--to the north-western end of Providence's downtown shopping and
entertaimment area. . )

Although it is about to embark on a new life--housing new, alive
performers using innovative and lively forms of dramatic expression,
‘the Majestic Theatre building will remain a prominent physical reminder
of the era of the extravagant and luxurious "movie palaces" constructed
in America during the second-through-fourth decades of this century. -
Expensive as their construction and décor may have been, they were paid
for many times over by the pre-TV public, who found romance, world
travel and nepenthe in the then-new entertainment medium. The theatres
were part of the illusion, supplyling imperially palatial and formal,
extravagantly frivolous, or startlingly "moderne" settings for their
Whtton-pictures, their ¥audeville entertainers and the blasting sound
of their great disappearing pipe-organs. The entrepreneurs and their
architects well knew what would be the return on investment in these
theatre btirhctnres and in constructing them often produced buildings and
interiors now highly admired from other viewpoints.

Alone among Providence movie-houses (otherwise concealed in or
under office and loft buildings, or thitkqueezed sites where only an
entrance is visible), it seems, the Majestic Theatre of 1916 is a large
and free-standing structure which externally proclaims its functions.
The building, further, had a way of announcing to the potential ticket-
buyer that its auditorium did not house the more serious arts. The south
fagade--elaborate and somewhat playful with its white, green and gold
facing, its varied and ornamented openings--let one know immédiately
that this was a place of enjoyment, in the same rather frivolous manner
as Mexico City's National Theatre of 1900 and London's Galety Theatre
of 1905, Once.enticed inside, the clerk, the shopgirl and the housewife

(See Continuation Sheet 2.)
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7. Description. A N\

blank expanses above the ground storey divided into "bays" by narrow rusti-
cated piers; on these elevations the few openings are there by necessity
only and are unadorned, irregularly spaced. A plain one-storey extension
at the north or rear of the theatre contains some retail shops.

Entering through the central doors at the south, which have stained-
glass transoms, one is in a 30-by-50-foot lobby with a tesselated floor and
marble baseboard, plastered walls, a compartmented ceiling and elaborate
plaster cornice treatment. Wide semi-elliptical archways flanked by panel-
led Ionic pilasters open at left and right to stair-halls; doors along the
rear open to the orchestra level of the auditorium. In the centre of the
ceiling is a large oval opening--with elaborate internal cornice treatment--
looking to the upper lobby and a domed skylight of stained glass.

The lateral stair-hadls are panelled in three colours of Italian
marble and have exit doors with stained-glass transoms; the stairs them-
selves are also of marble and have elaborate bronze and wrought-iron rails;
decorative bronze grilles cover heating: vents in the walls; and walls and
celling are separated by a full classical entablature in plaster.

The chief remaining display of grandeur in the building to-day, how-
ever, is the upper lobby, or foyer to the loges and gallery. Of the same
dimensions as the entrance lobby, it has a wide stretch of tall windows (no
doubt originally heavily valanced and draped) on its south side, doors to
the auditorium along its north side and wide openings from the stair-halls
at either end. Plaster walls above a marble baseboard have pilasters of
adaptive Tuscan form with stopped fluting and pendant ornamentation in the
upper part of the fluting. The ceiling is compartmented, and a classical
cornice with egg-and-dart motif and dentils is used around the room and
within the compartments. The showpiece here is the central rotunda (actu-
ally oval) opening which looks into the entrance lobby below. " Eight * *~
plaster columns (again with stopped fluting and pendant ornament) of the
Composite order appear to support the stained-glass "dome" capping this
ovening (and artificially 1lit from abovwe), and between them, in seven
sections, runs a highly ornate marble-capped bronze grille or rail. Within
the base of the ®dome" there is an elaborate plaster entablature treatment
with modillions, an embossed frieze punctuated by garlands etc. Gilding
las been liberally used in all this adormment; and there are gilt scrolled
brackets in the angles of the chief recesses and openings of this lobby,
pendant lamps with gilt-bronze frames (incorporating masks, garlands, tas-
sels) and milk-glass in the corner compartments of the ceiling.

Beyond the north-east and north-west corners of this lobby, plain

enclosed stairways lead to the upper-gallery level, where a frontal cross-
hall has an arched window grouping partially filled by stained glass.

(See Continuation Sheet 2.)

GPO 901.082




Form 10-300¢ UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR STATE
(July 1969) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE Rhode Island

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORICPLACES ([counNTy
Providence
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM

FOR NPS USE ONLY

ENTRY NUMBER DATE

Conti tion Sheet 7
(Continuation Sheet)-2 JUN 5 1577

(Number all entrles)

Te

8.

Description.

The auditorium and spreading proscenium continued the theme of lavish
décor. But since this area has now been stripped and is to be completely
rebuilt (not restored); only a brief quoted descrintion, from The Provi-
dence Magazine of April, 1917, will be given of its past grandeur:

The auditorium, having a seating capacity of 1,L00 people,
is wainscoted in Italian and Turkish marbles. The walls are
hung with silk tapestries. The balcony seats 1,600. The stage
is 80 feet deep and 35 feet wide. ... In addition to the
usual stage boxes, there are loges in front of the balcony and
on the main floor from the boxes to the back wall.

There was also a vast amount of other moulded, painted and gilt plaster

panel and relief decoration.

Significance,

could revel in the halls and lobbies with their marbles, columns, balus-
trades and carpeting and in the gilt, colours and velvet in the auditorium.

For these reasons, this building occupies a particular place in
American architectural history. But in itself, it is a good building,
visually pleasing; and it is a late product of a prominent local firm of
architect-partners whose adjustments in style, through some eight decades
and three generations, is interesting. It should also be noted for its
use of terra-cotta facing and trim--much promoted by its manufacturers and
by architectural publications c. 1895-1920 in place of carved stone. That
material was flexible and adaptable and quite economically could imitate
the carving for which workers were becoming less available. This is one
of the very few terra-cotta fagades in downtown Providence.

With the coming of télevision, drive-in theatres and intimate cinemas,
this building came to outlive its original use and profitab¥lity. Now, the
Trinity Square Repertory Theatre, which has become internationally known
and was in need of a permanent base and an adequate auditorium for its pro-
ductions, has acquired the Majestic Theatre. The glilded auditorium 1is
being stripped and gutted to provide two levels of modern performing areas.
However, the exterior elevations, the paved lobby at street-level, the
two fine stair-halls, the upper lobby and rotunda will be retained, cleaned
and refurbished to show again as much of their original elegance as finances
will allow,
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